
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

 

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 

COMMISSION,  

 

 Plaintiff, 

 

v. Case No: 8:19-cv-886-VMC-SPF 

 

OASIS INTERNATIONAL GROUP, 

LIMITED, OASIS MANAGEMENT, 

LLC, SATELLITE HOLDINGS 

COMPANY, MICHAEL J. 

DACORTA, JOSEPH S. ANILE, II , 

RAYMOND P. MONTIE, III , 

FRANCISCO ''FRANK'' L. DURAN, 

JOHN J. HAAS, MAINSTREAM 

FUND SERVICES, INC, BOWLING 

GREEN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, 

LLC, LAGOON INVESTMENTS, 

INC, ROAR OF THE LION FITNESS, 

LLC, 444 GULF OF MEXICO DRIVE, 

LLC, 4064 FOUNDERS CLUB DRIVE, 

LLC, 6922 LACANTERA CIRCLE, 

LLC, 13318 LOST KEY PLACE, LLC 

and 4OAKS, LLC, 

 

 Defendants. 

___________________________________ 

 

JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE 
 

Decision by Court. This action came before the Court and a decision has been rendered. 
 

IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED  

Pursuant to the Courts order entered on December 6, 2023, judgment is entered in 

favor of the CFTC and against Defendant Michael J. DaCorta on all counts of the 

complaint in the amount of $53,270,336.08 plus post-judgment interest as restitution 

and $8,453,628.48 as a civil penalty. Additionally, DaCorta is permanently enjoined 

from directly or indirectly violating the Act and its supporting regulations by:  

• Cheating or defrauding, or attempting to cheat or defraud, other persons in or in 

connection with any order to make, or the making of, any contract of sale of any 

Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF   Document 781   Filed 12/07/23   Page 1 of 4 PageID 17448



2 

 

retail forex transaction that is made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, any 

other person, in violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(A)–(C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 

6b(a)(2)(A)–(C), and Regulation 5.2(b)(1)-(3), 17 C.F.R. § 5.2(b)(1)-(3); • Employing 

any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any client or participant or prospective 

client or participant, or engaging in any transaction, practice or course of business 

which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or participant or prospective 

participant in violation of Section 4o(1)(A)–(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(1)(A)–(B);  

• Being associated with a CPO as a partner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent, or 

a person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions, in any capacity 

that involves the solicitation of funds, securities, or property for participation in a 

retail forex pool without being registered with the CFTC as an AP of the CPO, in 

violation of Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc) and 4k(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.  

• Failing to operate a commodity pool as an entity cognizable as a legal entity separate 

from that of the pool operator, in violation of Regulation 4.20(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 

4.20(a)(1);  

• Failing to require that all funds, securities, or other property received by a CPO from 

a prospective or existing pool participant be received in the commodity pool’s name, 

in violation of Regulation 4.20(b), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b);  

• Commingling the property of a commodity pool in violation of Regulation 4.20(c), 

17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c); and  

• Failing to provide prospective pool participants with pool disclosure documents in 

the form specified in Regulations 4.24 and 4.25, 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.24, 4.25, in violation 

of Regulation 4.21, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21.  

• The Court further enjoins DaCorta from directly or indirectly: 

• Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity (as that term is defined in 

Section 1a(40) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(40));  

• Entering into any transactions involving “commodity interests” (as that term is 

defined in Regulation 1.3, 17 C.F.R. § 1.3), for his own personal account or for any 

account in which he has a direct or indirect interest;  

• Having any commodity interests traded on his behalf;  

Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF   Document 781   Filed 12/07/23   Page 2 of 4 PageID 17449



3 

 

• Controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or entity, 

whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account involving commodity 

interests;  

• Soliciting, receiving, or accepting any funds from any person for the purpose of 

purchasing or selling any commodity interests;  

• Applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the CFTC in 

any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such registration or exemption 

from registration with the CFTC, except as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 

C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9); and  

• Acting as a principal (as that term is defined in Regulation 3.1(a), 17 C.F.R. § 3.1(a)), 

agent or any other officer or employee of any person (as that term is defined in 

Section 1a(38) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(38)), registered, exempted from registration 

or required to be registered with the CFTC except as provided for in 17 C.F.R. § 

4.14(a)(9).  

 

for which sum let execution issue. 

Any motions seeking an award of attorney's fees and/or costs must be filed within 

the time and in the manner prescribed in Local Rule 7.01, United States District 

Court Middle District of Florida.  

Date: December 7, 2023 

 

 ELIZABETH M. WARREN, CLERK 

 
 s/H. Iovino, Deputy Clerk 
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CIVIL APPEALS JURISDICTION CHECKLIST 

1. Appealable Orders: Courts of Appeals have jurisdiction conferred and strictly limited by statute: 

(a) Appeals from final orders pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1291: Only final orders and judgments of district courts, or final 
orders of bankruptcy courts which have been appealed to and fully resolved by a district court under 28 U.S.C. Section 158, 

generally are appealable.  A final decision is one that “ends the litigation on the merits and leaves nothing for the court to do 
but execute the judgment.”  Pitney Bowes, Inc. V. Mestre, 701 F.2d 1365, 1368 (11th Cir. 1983).  A magistrate judge’s report 

and recommendation is not final and appealable until judgment thereon is entered by a district court judge. 28 U.S.C. Section 

636(c). 

(b) In cases involving multiple parties or multiple claims, a judgment as to fewer than all parties or all claims is not a final, 

appealable decision unless the district court has certified the judgment for immediate review under Fed.R.Civ.P. 54(b), 
Williams v. Bishop, 732 F.2d 885, 885-86 (11th Cir. 1984).  A judgment which resolves all issues except matters, such as 

attorneys’ fees and costs, that are collateral to the merits, is immediately appealable. Budinich v. Becton Dickinson & Co., 

486 U.S. 196, 201, 108 S. Ct. 1717, 1721-22, 100 L.Ed.2d 178 (1988); LaChance v. Duffy’s Draft House, Inc., 146 F.3d 832, 

837 (11th Cir. 1998). 

(c) Appeals pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1292(a):  Appeals are permitted from orders “granting, continuing, modifying, 
refusing or dissolving injunctions or refusing to dissolve or modify injunctions...” and from “[i]nterlocutory 

decrees...determining the rights and liabilities of parties to admiralty cases in which appeals from final decrees are allowed.”  

Interlocutory appeals from orders denying temporary restraining orders are not permitted. 

(d) Appeals pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1292(b) and Fed.R.App.P.5:  The certification specified in 28 U.S.C. Section 

1292(b) must be obtained before a petition for permission to appeal is filed in the Court of Appeals.  The district court’s 

denial of a motion for certification is not itself appealable. 

(e) Appeals pursuant to judicially created exceptions to the finality rule: Limited exceptions are discussed in cases including, 

but not limited to: Cohen V. Beneficial Indus. Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541,546,69 S.Ct. 1221, 1225-26, 93 L.Ed. 1528 (1949); 
Atlantic Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Blythe Eastman Paine Webber, Inc., 890 F. 2d 371, 376 (11th Cir. 1989); Gillespie v. 

United States Steel Corp., 379 U.S. 148, 157, 85 S. Ct. 308, 312, 13 L.Ed.2d 199 (1964). 

2. Time for Filing: The timely filing of a notice of appeal is mandatory and jurisdictional.  Rinaldo v. Corbett, 256 F.3d 1276, 1278 (11th 

Cir. 2001).  In civil cases, Fed.R.App.P.4(a) and (c) set the following time limits: 

(a) Fed.R.App.P. 4(a)(1): A notice of appeal in compliance with the requirements set forth in Fed.R.App.P. 3 must be filed in 

the district court within 30 days after the entry of the order or judgment appealed from.  However, if the United States or an 
officer or agency thereof is a party, the notice of appeal must be filed in the district court within  60 days after such entry.  

THE NOTICE MUST BE RECEIVED AND FILED IN THE DISTRICT COURT NO LATER THAN THE LAST 

DAY OF THE APPEAL PERIOD - no additional days are provided for mailing.  Special filing provisions for inmates are 

discussed below. 

(b) Fed.R.App.P. 4(a)(3): “If one party timely files a notice of appeal, any other party may file a notice of appeal within 14 days 

after the date when the first notice was filed, or within the time otherwise prescribed by this Rule 4(a), whichever period ends 

later.” 

(c) Fed.R.App.P.4(a)(4): If any party makes a timely motion in the district court under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure of 
a type specified in this rule, the time for appeal for all parties runs from the date of entry of the order disposing of the last 

such timely filed motion. 

(d) Fed.R.App.P.4(a)(5) and 4(a)(6): Under certain limited circumstances, the district court may extend the time to file a notice 
of appeal.  Under Rule 4(a)(5), the time may be extended if a motion for an extension is filed within 30 days after expiration 

of the time otherwise provided to file a notice of appeal, upon a showing of excusable neglect or good cause.  Under Rule 

4(a)(6), the time may be extended if the district court finds upon motion that a party did not timely receive notice of the entry 

of the judgment or order, and that no party would be prejudiced by an extension. 

(e) Fed.R.App.P.4(c): If an inmate confined to an institution files a notice of appeal in either a civil case or a criminal case, the 
notice of appeal is timely if it is deposited in the institution’s internal mail system on or before the last day for filing.  Timely 

filing may be shown by a declaration in compliance with 28 U.S.C. Section 1746 or a notarized statement, either of which 

must set forth the date of deposit and state that first-class postage has been prepaid. 

3. Format of the notice of appeal: Form 1, Appendix of Forms to the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, is a suitable format.  See 

also Fed.R.App.P. 3(c).  A pro se notice of appeal must be signed by the appellant. 

4. Effect of a notice of appeal: A district court loses jurisdiction (authority) to act after the filing of a timely notice of appeal, except for 

actions in aid of appellate jurisdiction or to rule on a timely motion of the type specified in Fed.R.App.P. 4(a)(4). 
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